1996

Michael Erhart v. Waste Management of Utah, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (1953), as amended, which confers appellate jurisdiction in this Court over cases transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court of Utah poured-over this case to the Court of Appeals on July 31, 1996. This appeal is taken from the final judgment and Order of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable David S. Young, Judge, presiding.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The following issues are presented for review in this brief:

1. Did the trial court commit reversible error when it granted Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment?
 - a. Did the trial court properly conclude as a matter of law that there were no disputed issues of material fact such that Plaintiff presented no evidence upon which a jury could conclude that the Plaintiff received his injuries in the area where repairs had been performed some months prior to his accident?
 - b. Did the trial court properly determine as a matter of law that the evidence was insufficient to allow a reasonable jury to conclude that Plaintiff's injuries were caused by defects or dangerous conditions which Defendant created, or of which Defendant was aware, and which Defendant should reasonably foresee would expose others to an unreasonable risk of harm?

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is proper only when no genuine issues of material fact remain and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Utah R.Civ.P. 56(c); Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 855 P.2d 231, 235 (Utah 1993). Because the appellate court resolves only legal issues on appeal from a summary judgment, the appellate court does not defer to the trial court's rulings. Ferree v. State, 784 P.2d 149, 151 (Utah 1989); accord Higgins, 855 P.2d at 235. "We determine only whether the trial court erred in

applying the governing law and whether the trial court correctly held that there were no disputed issues of material fact.” Ferree, 784 P.2d at 151 (citing Bushnell Real Estate, Inc. v. Nielson, 672 P.2d 746, 749 (Utah 1983); Bowen v. Riverton City, 656 P.2d 434, 436 (Utah 1982)).

“Summary judgment allows the parties to pierce the pleadings to determine whether a material issue of fact exists that must be resolved by the fact finder.” Lamb v. B & B Amusements Corp., 869 P.2d 926, 928 (Utah 1993) (citing Reagan Outdoor Advertising, Inc. v. Lundgren, 692 P.2d 776, 779 (Utah 1984); Webster v. Sill, 675 P.2d 1170, 1172 (Utah 1983)). In accordance with this rule, “[t]he party moving for summary judgment must establish a right to judgment based on the applicable law as applied to an *undisputed* material issue of fact. A party opposing the motion is required only to show that there is a material issue of fact.” Id. (emphasis added) (citations omitted).

Moreover, as to questions concerning material issues of fact, “[a]ffidavits and depositions submitted in support of and in opposition to a motion for summary judgment may be used only to determine whether a material issue of fact exists, not to determine whether one party’s case is less persuasive than another’s or is not likely to succeed in a trial on the merits.” Id. Accordingly, “[b]ecause this is an appeal from a summary judgment, the appellate court must review the factual submissions to the trial court in a light most favorable to finding a material issue of fact.” Versluis v. Guaranty National Cos., 842 P.2d 865, 867 (Utah 1992) (citing King v. Searle Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 832 P.2d 858 (Utah 1992)). “A genuine issue of fact exists where, on the basis of the facts in the

record, reasonable minds could differ” on any material issue. Jackson v. Dabney, 645 P.2d 613, 615 (Utah 1982).

STATUTES, RULES, AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

Any statutes, rules, and constitutional provisions relevant to the disposition of this appeal are set forth in the text of this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about April 28, 1992, Plaintiff and Appellant Michael Erhart was injured while removing furniture and equipment from a trailer leased by his employer, The Industrial Company (“TIC”), from Modulaire, a related company of Defendant Waste Management of Utah, Inc. (“Waste Management”)

Plaintiff Michael Erhart filed a Complaint against Waste Management in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County on July 29, 1994. (R. 1-7) Following discovery, Defendant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 58-59) Upon oral argument and at the conclusion of the hearing on the Motion, the trial court granted Defendant’s Motion, determining as a matter of law that there were no genuine issues of material fact in dispute. (R. 214) The court issued an Order on May 16, 1996 granting Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and finding that Plaintiff presented no evidence upon which a jury could conclude that Plaintiff received his injuries in the area where repairs had been performed some months prior to the accident. (R. 165) The court ruled that without other evidence of what the defect consisted of, when it arose, or

when it reasonably would have been discovered, summary judgment for the Defendant was proper. (R. 166) This appeal followed.

FACTS

Viewed in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, as required by the standard of review, the facts of this case are as follows:

Defendant Waste Management is in part the business of leasing mobile trailers to construction companies for such on-site use as offices and storage facilities. (R. 61) On July 6, 1990, TIC leased from Modulaire, a related company of Defendant Waste Management, a double-wide mobile field office for use on the fourth line expansion project at Kennecott Copper's concentrate facility near Copperton, Utah . (R. 113) Waste Management did not manufacture the subject trailer. Instead it was manufactured by an unrelated company, Advanced Modular Manufacturing, not a party to this lawsuit or appeal. (R. 61) (Deposition of Jerry Bryant, p. 7, attached as Addendum C)

Before the trailer was taken to the site where TIC used it, the trailer was inspected by Advanced Modular. (R. 61) (Deposition of Jerry Bryant, p. 11, attached as Addendum C) Once the trailer arrived on site it was again inspected . (R. 61, 98) (Deposition of Jerry Bryant, p. 11, attached as Addendum C) Upon taking possession of the trailer, TIC proceeded to install walls to create individual office space and modified the floor plan configuration to suit its own needs. (R. 63) (Deposition of Danny Piva, p. 13, attached as Addendum D)

Despite the several inspections performed by Modulaire prior to TIC taking possession of the trailer, TIC noted several problems with the trailer, including problems with floors, ceiling tiles and doors. (Deposition of Danny Piva, p. 23, 29, attached as Addendum D) Modulaire performed the requested repair work through a service company. (Deposition of Danny Piva, p. 23, attached as Addendum D) Sometime around February or March 1992, TIC noted some water damage to the floor area around the front door of the trailer. TIC made several calls to Modulaire to have the floor repaired. (Deposition of Danny Piva, p. 24, attached as Addendum D) Someone not associated with TIC came on at least two occasions and made the requested repairs, which consisted of crawling under the trailer in the front door area and installing new support members, new subfloor material and replacing floor tile. (Deposition of Danny Piva, p. 24, attached as Addendum D; Deposition of Richard Young, p. 38-40, attached as Addendum E)

Approaching the end of April, 1992, TIC began demobilizing the trailer because its work at Kennecott was coming to an end. (R. 64) (Deposition of Richard Young, p. 10, attached as Addendum E) This demobilization included removing the walls TIC had installed to create office space. (R. 64) On April 28, 1992, Plaintiff Michael Erhart was involved in the demobilization process, moving boxes, supplies and furniture out of the trailer. (Deposition of Michael Erhart, p. 37, attached as Addendum F) As he walked in the area near the front door carrying heavy boxes, Michael Erhart's leg fell through the floor of the trailer, causing him to sustain serious bodily injuries. (Deposition of Michael

Erhart, p. 38, attached as Addendum F) Following this incident, several individuals saw a hole in the floor of the trailer. (Deposition of Michael Erhart, p. 40, attached as Addendum F; Deposition of Richard Young, p. 22-23, attached as Addendum E; Deposition of Janae Young, p. 18, 32, attached as Addendum G) Several witnesses recall seeing a piece of plywood or other material that had been placed on the floor so as to cover the hole and prevent others from falling in. (Deposition of Cheryl Piva, p. 20, attached as Addendum H; Deposition of Richard Young, p. 25-26, attached as Addendum E; Deposition of Michael Erhart, p. 46-47, attached as Addendum F)

Notwithstanding these eyewitness accounts of the incident, Modulaire asserts that there was no damage noted to the floor of the trailer during an inspection the day following the incident. (Deposition of Jerry Bryant, p. 13-15, attached as Addendum C)

The exact location where Plaintiff's leg fell through the floor is in dispute. During Plaintiff's deposition he was asked to identify by marking on a diagram of the trailer the location where the floor allegedly failed and he fell through it. (Deposition of Michael Erhart, p. 38, attached as Addendum F) Plaintiff responded by making a circle on the diagram and by saying, "It was somewhere in this area. I can't be exactly sure because it's been a long time." (Addendum F) Plaintiff was also asked, "Now the area that you circled seems, in most part, to be contained within the area where the roll-up door room was." Plaintiff responded, "Yeah. It was somewhere in this vicinity. I couldn't pinpoint the exact place at this time." (Deposition of Michael Erhart, p. 45, attached as Addendum F)

When asked where Plaintiff was when Plaintiff was injured, Richard Young, a co-worker also present during the incident, initially responded by marking a diagram of the trailer in an area very close to the threshold of the overhead door. (Deposition of Richard Young, p. 17-20, attached as Addendum E) When told that there was some discrepancy between where he had placed the location of the accident and where Michael Erhart placed the accident, Richard Young stated, "Well, now I think about it, he might have been a little bit farther back. I was thinking it was -- it wasn't quite to the door." "He was probably about -- trying to remember. We were walking up. He was probably -- I'd put him at first close to the threshold, now I think, more of a -- he's probably about two and a half feet away from the threshold." (Deposition of Richard Young, p. 19-20, attached as Addendum E) Other witnesses place Michael Erhart in approximate locations around the area of the overhead door.

During the course of discovery, Counsel for both parties accompanied Ronald L. Larsen, President and former General Manager of Advanced Modular Manufacturing, the manufacturer of the subject trailer, on an inspection of the trailer. (R. 148-151) (Affidavit of Ronald L. Larsen, attached as Addendum I) As part of the inspection, Mr. Larsen specifically looked at the area near the front door where repairs had been made approximately one to two months prior to Plaintiff's alleged accident. (R. 149) Mr. Larsen stated that the area that had been repaired extends no further than 18 inches in from the outside wall of the trailer. This area of repair ran approximately 12 to 16 feet lengthwise with the trailer and involved replacing strips of plywood 18 inches wide in 8

foot pieces. (R. 149) The seams outlining the boundary between the repair and the original flooring material are easily identified by blocking along those seams. (R. 149) The area of the repair was easily located and was easily visible from underneath the trailer. (R. 149) The remainder of the undercarriage of the trailer is absolutely devoid of any repair or any damage that would even be associated with Plaintiff's alleged incident as he described it. (R. 150)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erroneously granted Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment when it concluded that Plaintiff presented no evidence upon which a jury could conclude that the Plaintiff received his injuries in the area where repairs had been performed some months prior to the accident. Either Plaintiff fell through a hole in the floor of the trailer or he did not. Defendant's witness, Ronald Larsen, testified that the only area of the entire trailer where repairs had been made extended 18 inches from the wall and threshold of the doors for a distance of 12 to 16 feet lengthwise. There was no evidence of any other damage or repair to any other part of the trailer. The logical conclusion, viewed in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, is that Plaintiff fell through the floor in the area of the repairs. Such a conclusion is exactly opposite of the trial courts decision.

Additionally, whether Defendant had notice that a dangerous condition existed with the floor of the trailer is a question of fact for the jury and is not appropriate for the trial court to decide in summary judgment.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT INCORRECTLY RULED AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THERE WERE NO DISPUTED ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT.

Following oral argument and hearing on Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, the trial court concluded that Plaintiff presented no evidence upon which a jury could conclude that the Plaintiff received his injuries in the area where repairs had been performed some months prior to his accident. (R. 165) Such a conclusion is clearly erroneous and contrary to the evidence.

A fundamental factual question in this matter is whether Plaintiff in fact fell through the floor of the trailer, and if so, the location of the resulting hole. This fundamental factual issue remains in dispute. Defendant asserts that there was no damage noted to the floor of the trailer during an inspection the day following the incident. (R. 64) Defendant even represented to the trial court during oral argument on the Motion for Summary Judgment that the trailer was recovered by Modulaire approximately two days after the Plaintiff's accident and there was no notation of any problems with the floor and no holes noted on the return inspection. (R. 183) Nevertheless, several other witnesses testified that they either saw Plaintiff's leg fall through the floor, that they saw the hole in the floor immediately following the incident, and/or that they saw a piece of plywood or other material covering the hole in the floor so as to prevent others from falling in the

hole.

Defendant introduced the Affidavit of Ronald L. Larsen, President and former General Manager of Advanced Modular Manufacturing, the manufacturer of the subject trailer, who performed an inspection of the trailer in the presence of Counsel. Mr. Larsen testified that he was able to easily identify the location where obvious repairs had been made to the floor of the trailer. These repairs extended no further than 18 inches in from the outside wall of the trailer and ran approximately 12 to 16 feet lengthwise. The seams outlining the boundary between the repair and the original flooring material were easily identified by blocking along those seams. Importantly, Mr. Larsen testified that the remainder of the undercarriage of the trailer is absolutely devoid of any repair or any damage whatsoever.

By the testimony of Defendant's witness, Ronald Larsen, Plaintiff either did not fall through the floor of the trailer, or he fell through in the location of the repair, 18 inches out from the threshold of the doors. Factually, it necessarily must be one or the other. The fact that there is no evidence of any damage or repair to any other location of the undercarriage of the trailer except in the area 18 inches out from the wall of the trailer extending 12 to 16 feet lengthwise necessarily means that if Plaintiff fell through the floor of the trailer, he fell through at the location of the repairs. This logical conclusion is exactly opposite of what the trial court ruled when it concluded that Plaintiff presented no evidence upon which a jury could conclude that the Plaintiff received his injuries in the area where repairs had been performed some months prior to his accident.

What the trial court failed to consider was whether the repairs identified by Mr. Larsen represent the repairs made several months prior to Plaintiff's incident at the insistence of TIC or whether the repairs identified by Mr. Larsen represent repairs made to the hole in the floor caused by Plaintiff falling through. Either way, a reasonable jury could conclude that Plaintiff received his injuries in the area of the repair and the trial court's ruling was improper. Applying the appropriate standard of review, this Court must find the factual submissions to the trial court in a light most favorable to finding a material issue of fact. Because the evidence tends to show Plaintiff received his injuries in the area of the repair, summary judgment was improper.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT INCORRECTLY RULED AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT A JURY COULD NOT CONCLUDE THAT THE DEFENDANT HAD NOTICE OF A DEFECTIVE CONDITION.

In granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment the trial court necessarily determined as a matter of law that the evidence was insufficient to allow a reasonable jury to conclude that Plaintiff's injuries were caused by defects or dangerous conditions which Defendant created, or of which Defendant was aware, and which Defendant should reasonably foresee would expose others to an unreasonable risk of harm.

Concerning a landlord's duty of care, the Utah appellate courts have made it clear that a landlord is bound by the usual standard of exercising ordinary prudence and care to see that premises he leases are

reasonably safe and suitable for intended uses, [and] that under appropriate circumstances he may be held liable for injuries caused by any defects or dangerous conditions which he created, or of which he was aware, and which he should reasonably foresee would expose others to an unreasonable risk of harm.

Gregory v. Fourthrow Investments, Ltd., 754 P.2d 89, 91 (Utah App. 1988) (quoting Stephenson v. Warner, 581 P.2d 567, 568 (Utah 1978)). A landlord is not an insurer of the safety of his tenants, and merely because an injury results from a defect does not automatically create liability. Williams v. Melby, 699 P.2d 723, 727 (Utah 1985). The plaintiff must demonstrate that defendant knew, or in the exercise of ordinary care should have known, that a dangerous condition existed and that sufficient time had elapsed to take corrective action. Martin v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 565 P.2d 1139, 1140-41 (Utah 1977).

TIC called Modulaire in February or March, 1992 and requested repairs to the floor of the trailer due to water damage as a result of faulty seals around the doors. Someone not associated with TIC came to the trailer and performed some repairs in the area of the front door. Such repairs included installing new support members, new subfloor material and replacing floor tile. By calling and requesting that Modulaire come and repair the water damage to the floor of the trailer, TIC placed Defendant on notice that a dangerous condition existed with the floor in the area of the front door. TIC responded to the call and made some repairs. A factual question still exists as to the nature and extent of these repairs.

Whether Defendant had actual or constructive notice of dangerous conditions with the floor of the trailer is a question of fact for the jury. Ohlson v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 568 P.2d 753, 755 (Utah 1977); Pollari v. Salt Lake City, 176 P.2d 111, 116 (Utah 1947). Plaintiff has demonstrated that Defendant knew, or in the exercise of ordinary care should have known, that a dangerous condition existed and that sufficient time had elapsed to take corrective action. The Utah Supreme Court has noted that “[a]s a general proposition, summary judgment is inappropriate to resolve a negligence claim on its merits, and should be employed ‘only in the most clear-cut case.’” Schreiter v. Wasatch Manor, Inc., 871 P.2d 570, 575 (Utah App. 1994), *cert. denied*, 879 P.2d 266 (Utah 1994) (quoting Ingram v. Salt Lake City, 733 P.2d 126, 126 (Utah 1987)(per curiam), *cert. denied*, 789 P.2d 33 (Utah 1990)). Further, “[o]f particular concern is the precept that ‘[o]rdinarily, whether a defendant has breached the required standard of care is a question of fact for the jury.’” Id. at 575 (quoting Jackson v. Dabney, 645 P.2d 613, 615 (Utah 1982)). Accordingly, summary judgment is improper unless the standard of care can be determined as a matter of law, “and reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion as to the defendant’s negligence under the circumstances.” Id. “Summary judgment should be granted with great caution in negligence cases.” Doe v. Doe, 878 P.2d 1161, 1162 (Utah App. 1994) (quoting Apache Tank Lines inc. v. Cheney, 706 P.2d 614, 615 (Utah 1985)).

The particular standard of care that Defendant owed Plaintiff cannot be determined as a matter of law, because “[t]he care to be exercised in any particular case depends

upon the circumstances of that case and on the extent of foreseeable danger involved and must be determined as a question of fact.” Schreiter at 575 (quoting DCR, Inc. v. Peak Alarm Co., 663 P.2d 433 (Utah 1983)). Accordingly, whether Defendant breached the required standard of care is a question of fact for the jury and cannot be appropriately decided in summary judgment.

Plaintiff has presented sufficient evidence to allow a reasonable jury to conclude that Defendant had actual or constructive notice that a dangerous condition existed as to the floor of the trailer. This evidence demonstrates that Plaintiff’s injury occurred in the area where Defendant had made repairs to the floor of the trailer. Nevertheless, whether Defendant had such notice is a question of fact for the jury. Ohlson, *supra*; Pollari, *supra*. The trial court invaded the province of jury when it decided this question and granted summary judgment.

CONCLUSION

The trial court erroneously granted Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment when it concluded that Plaintiff presented no evidence upon which a jury could conclude that the Plaintiff received his injuries in the area where repairs had been performed some months prior to the accident. Viewed in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, the evidence clearly shows that Plaintiff fell through the floor in the area of the repairs. Such a logical conclusion is exactly opposite of the trial court’s ruling.

Additionally, whether Defendant had notice that a dangerous condition existed

with the floor of the trailer is a question of fact for the jury and is not appropriate for the trial court to decide in summary judgment.

Wherefore, Plaintiff respectfully requests this Court to reverse the trial court's Order granting summary judgment and remand to allow Plaintiff to present his case on the merits to the jury.