1996

Michael Erhart v. Waste Management of Utah, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiff failed to argue or brief his claims of breach of warranty or product liability. As a result such claims are waived and abandoned on appeal.

In the trial court, Plaintiff failed to forward admissible, material evidence to support a prima facie case of negligence against Defendant. Specifically, Plaintiff failed to forward any disputed evidence tending to show that the allegedly dangerous condition causing his fall was actually known or should have been known to Defendant.

Significantly, in the trial court Plaintiff failed to forward any admissible evidence that the alleged dangerous condition existed or could have been discovered when prior repairs were undertaken. It would be improper to allow a jury to speculate that Defendant should have discovered the dangerous condition simply because prior work was done on the floor of the

trailer. There is simply no competent evidence that the alleged dangerous condition existed and/or could have been discovered at any time prior to Plaintiff's fall. Moreover, no evidence was presented showing that the condition existed for such a period of time that Defendant, in the regular course of its reasonable duties, could have corrected it.

ARGUMENT

I.

PLAINTIFF'S FAILURE TO ADDRESS THE BREACH OF WARRANTY AND PRODUCT LIABILITY CLAIMS CONSTITUTES WAIVER OF THE CLAIMS OF ERROR ON APPEAL.

Utah Courts recognize the general principle that, "where an appellant fails to brief an issue on appeal, the point is waived." Paxton v. State Farm Mutual Insurance Co., 809 P.2d 746, 751 (Utah App. 1991). Similarly, issues raised in a docketing statement but not briefed thereafter are deemed waived and abandoned. Roselli v. Rio Communities Service Station, 787 P.2d 428 (N.M. 1980); In Re: Pulver, 871 P.2d 985 (N.M. App. 1994).¹ Case authority also holds a party may not argue matters for the first time in its reply brief in an attempt to place the

¹ See also, Union Oil Co. of Calif. v. State, 677 P.2d 1256, 1259 (Alaska 1984) (points initially raised for appeal but not briefed are considered abandoned); Quality Furniture Inc. v. Hay, 61 Haw. 89, 595 P.2d 1066, 1068 (1979) (issues raised but not argued in brief are waived); Northwest National Gas Co. v. Georgia-Pacific Corp., 53 Or. App. 89, 630 P.2d 1326, 1329 (assigned errors not briefed are deemed waived) review denied, 291 Or. 893, 642 P.2d 309 (1981); Kurpijuweit v. Northwestern Dev. Co. Inc., 708 P.2d 39, 46 (Wyo. 1985) (errors not asserted are waived or abandoned); Board of Education v. Kansas Dept. of Human Resources, 856 P.2d 1343 (Kan. App. 1993); Emery v. Federated Foods, Inc., 863 P.2d 426 (Mont. 1993).

waived issue back before the court. Braun v. Alaska Commercial Fishing and Agricultural Bank, 816 P.2d 140 (Alaska 1991).

In this matter Plaintiff originally brought three causes of action against Defendant based on negligence, breach of the warranty of habitability and product liability. See, R. 2-5. In his brief on appeal, Plaintiff addresses only the trial court's final judgment on Plaintiff's negligence claim. Accordingly, Plaintiff has abandoned his claims of breach of warranty and product liability. Summary Judgment may be affirmed as to those two claims as a matter of law.

II.

WASTE MANAGEMENT IS NOT LIABLE IN NEGLIGENCE FOR DANGEROUS CONDITIONS IN THE LEASED PROPERTY OF WHICH IT HAD NO KNOWLEDGE OR REASONABLE TIME TO CURE

Plaintiff's first cause of action as alleged in his Amended Complaint is based on negligence. The over-arching proposition of lessor/lessee liability is that a landlord is not the insurer of the safety of its tenants. Williams v. Melby, 699 P.2d 723, 727 (Utah 1985).

Utah law recognizes that a lessor of premises cannot be held liable for defects to the property unless the lessor knew or had reason to know of the dangerous condition and had sufficient time to remedy the condition after actual or constructive knowledge exists. Gregory v. Fourthwest Investments, Ltd., 754 P.2d 89 (Utah Ct. App. 1988); Williams v. Melby, 699 P.2d 723 (Utah 1985); Stephenson v. Warner, 581 P.2d 567 (Utah 1978); See also,

Moore v. Muntzel, 642 P.2d 957 (Kan. 1982).

A lessor's duty is defined as follows:

. . . a landlord is bound by the usual standard of exercising ordinary prudence and care to see that the premises he leases are reasonably safe and suitable for intended uses, [and] under appropriate circumstances he may be liable for injuries caused by any defects or dangerous conditions which he created, or of which he was aware, and which he should reasonably foresee would expose others to an unreasonable risk of harm.

Stephenson, at 568 (citing Moore, at 958).

At the foundation of a lessor's duty to prevent injury caused by a dangerous condition on premises is the lessor's knowledge of the condition.² However, knowledge is not established by simply forwarding evidence that a person fell and that the fall was caused by a dangerous condition in the premises. The threshold question to be resolved by a jury in all such cases is; "when did the condition arise?" The issue of knowledge and any resulting duty is entirely dependent on the answer to this initial inquiry.

Only when there is some material evidence regarding when the condition arose can it be properly determined whether the defendant actually knew or should have known a particular condition existed. After all, it would be sheer speculation to state that an inspection of the premises would have provided knowledge of a dangerous condition if there is no evidence that,

² The knowledge of a dangerous condition triggers the Defendant's duty. If there is no notice, either actual or constructive, no duty is triggered as a matter of law. See Stephenson, at 568.

in fact, the condition could have been discovered by an earlier inspection. Similarly, Plaintiff cannot establish that the condition existed for such a period of time that it should have been discovered and remedied by the Defendant if there is not some evidence to suggest when the condition first arose.

A. PLAINTIFF FAILED TO OFFER ANY EVIDENCE OF ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE.

Plaintiff asserted in the trial court and has reasserted on appeal that Defendant had actual knowledge of a dangerous condition existing in the floor at the time Plaintiff fell. In support of that claim Plaintiff argues:

By calling and requesting that Modulaire come and repair the water damage to the floor of the trailer, TIC placed Defendant on notice that a dangerous condition existed with the floor area in front of the door. TIC responded to the call and made some repairs. A factual question still exists as to the nature and extent of these repairs.

Appellant's Brief p. 13; See, also, R. 122.

Plaintiff's appeal is based exclusively on the premise that Defendant had actual knowledge of a defect in the floor prior to Plaintiff's fall. Plaintiff argues that when repairs were made to the floor of the trailer in September of 1991, the Defendants must have had notice of the existence of the dangerous condition which caused Plaintiff's fall over six months later on April 28, 1992. See Brief of Appellant, p. 11, 13, 15. Plaintiff argues that such knowledge can be inferred by a jury as a matter of "logic." Id.

The fatal flaw in Plaintiff's argument is the lack of any

evidentiary connection between the evidence offered regarding the nature of the previous repairs to the floor and evidence of the condition of the floor at the time Plaintiff fell. To properly show some evidence that Defendant had actual knowledge that a dangerous condition existed at the time prior repairs were made, Plaintiff should have forwarded some admissible evidence tending to show that the condition of the floor at the time of the earlier repairs would have alerted a reasonable person that the condition was presently dangerous or could become so during the ensuing weeks or months. Plaintiff offered no evidence that the dangerous condition existed or was observable when the prior repairs were made.

In fact, in the trial court, Plaintiff did not dispute the statement of undisputed facts forwarded by Defendant which demonstrated that Plaintiff did not even fall in the area where repairs were previously made.³ See, supra, State Of Relevant Facts No. 14. Instead, for the first time on appeal, Plaintiff argues that the jury should be able to "logically" conclude that simply because some repairs were previously made to the floor, that must have been where Plaintiff fell and, as a result, the dangerous condition must have existed earlier and been known to Defendant.

³ Plaintiff is bound by the undisputed fact that the his fall did not even occur in the area where prior repairs were made. Because the statement of fact was undisputed in the court below, the admission is binding for purposes of summary judgment and on appeal. See 4-501(2)(b).

Contrary to Plaintiff's novel argument, the trial court properly precluded the jury from speculating that the condition that caused Plaintiff's fall "must have" existed or "had to be known" to defendant merely because repairs were made earlier. Moreover, the disputed evidence of the location of Plaintiff's fall, even if properly raised below, does not itself, support the necessary inference that Defendant must have had notice of the dangerous condition when prior repairs were made. In the case of Kitchen v. Cal Gas, 821 P.2d 458 (Utah App. 1991), the court ruled that evidence that a truck driver was driving improperly forty-five minutes before an accident occurred was not admissible as tending to establish that he was driving negligently at the time of the accident. The court ruled that the jury could not be left to make such a speculative leap in logic. Id.

By analogy, in the present case, evidence that Defendant was called to perform some repairs to the floor six months earlier is not competent, admissible evidence tending to show that a defective condition existed at the time of Plaintiff's fall or, more significantly, that the condition was known to Defendant at any time. After all, as recognized in Kitchen, there are "numerous possible explanations" as to the floor's dangerous condition, "many of which would not involve the negligence" of Defendant. See Kitchen, at 459. In fact, all of the relevant witness in this matter testified that they had observed no prior problems with the floor of the trailer prior to Plaintiff's fall.

See, supra. Statement Of Relevant Facts No. 18. Here, as in Kitchen, "submitting the issue of negligence to the jury would require the jury to engage in mere speculation as to whether (the Defendant) was negligent." Id. at 460.

In sum, Plaintiff failed to present any competent, admissible evidence to connect the fact of prior repairs to the floor with knowledge of the condition of the floor at the time Plaintiff fell. To permit the jury to speculate that actual knowledge existed based only on the fact that earlier repairs occurred would have been improper under the law as stated by this Court in Kitchen. Plaintiff failed to forward admissible evidence of negligence and, as a result there is no evidence to establish that a duty toward Plaintiff ever arose in this case. Summary judgment was properly entered and may be affirmed on appeal.

B. PLAINTIFF FAILED TO SUBMIT ANY GENUINE EVIDENCE OF CONSTRUCTIVE KNOWLEDGE OF THE DANGEROUS CONDITION.

Plaintiff's failure to forward some admissible evidence regarding when the condition arose is also fatal to any claim of constructive notice. Constructive notice is imposed on a landlord when a dangerous condition exists and could have been discovered by the landlord during its reasonable inspection of the premises. Gregory, 754 P.2d at 91. It is also recognized that the constructive notice of latent conditions cannot exist where the lessee is in exclusive control of the premises. See

Moore v. Munsell, 642 P.2d 957, 958 (Kan. 1982). Where the landlord gives up all possessory interest and maintenance of the premises is undertaken by the lessee, the landlord has no realistic opportunity to inspect or repair and a duty to discover cannot be imposed because it is realistically incapable of performance. See, Id; See also Beach v. University Of Utah, 726 P.2d 413, 417 (Utah 1986).

More importantly, however, is Plaintiff's failure to forward any competent evidence regarding when the condition arose. Absent some evidence of when the defect arose, it cannot be said that the Defendant should have discovered it at some earlier point in its duty to inspect and/or maintain the trailer. Without some evidentiary benchmark of time, it is improper to allow a jury to speculate whether the condition could or should have been discovered before the accident. Therefore, Plaintiff failed to establish that a duty arose as a matter of law.

Finally, no evidence was presented to the trial court upon which a jury could base a finding regarding the length of time the defective condition existed. Absent some evidence of how long the condition existed, or its cause, it is sheer conjecture to surmise that Defendant had a reasonable period of time to remedy the situation before the accident. See Gregory, at 91.

Plaintiff's negligence claim fails for the simple reason that no admissible evidence was presented regarding when the alleged dangerous condition developed, for how long it existed or

that Defendant was or should have become aware of its existence prior to the accident. Summary judgment should be affirmed in favor of Defendant.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiff failed to address the warranty or product liability claims in his brief. As a result claims of error as to those causes of action are waived on appeal.

It has been shown that Plaintiff failed to forward any admissible evidence regarding when the alleged dangerous condition arose. His failure to forward such evidence is fatal to his claims of actual or constructive knowledge by Defendant. Therefore, no duty arose on the part of Defendant. Plaintiff's negligence claim fails as a matter of law. Summary judgment, as granted by the trial court, may be affirmed here on appeal.